1981

Hal Taylor Associates, a Utah Corporation v.
Unionamerica, Inc., a Corporation, aka Westmor;
Ramshire, Inc., a Corporation; William R.
Stevenson; Park City Reservations, Inc, a
Corporation dba Skyline Realty; Harry F. Reed and
Gary Cole : Brief of Appellant

Utah Supreme Court

STATEMENT OF THE NATURE OF THE CASE

This is a case in which Appellant seeks to recover from Respondents \$96,000, an amount equal to a 6% real estate listing broker's commission based on the sale of real property at a purchase price of \$1,600,000, plus interest, punitive damages, attorneys' fees and costs; and Respondent, Park City Reservations, Inc., seeks to recover from Appellant \$57,600 as a real estate selling broker's commission equal to 60% of said 6% commission, plus interest.

DISPOSITION IN LOWER COURT

Following a trial to the court without a jury, the Trial Court awarded Appellant judgment against Unionamerica, Inc. for the amount of \$96,000 plus interest, but the Trial Court refused to award Appellant any attorneys' fees or costs. The Trial Court also awarded

Park City Reservations, Inc. judgment against Appellant in the amount of \$57,600 plus interest. The Trial Court also awarded Appellant judgment against Unionamerica, Inc. for the amount of a listing broker's 6% commission in the separate sum of \$2,550 plus interest, based on a separate sale transaction, but again refused to award Appellant any attorneys' fees or costs. The Trial Court also ruled against Appellant and in favor of Respondents on other causes of action pled as tort, and refused to award Appellant any punitive damages. This appeal contests only the following portions of the Judgment:

1. The portion of the of Judgment in favor of Park City Reservations, Inc. and against Appellant for the amount of the selling broker's commission of \$57,600, plus interest;
2. The Trial Court's failure to award compensatory damages against Park City Reservations, Inc. as an offset to the portion of the Judgment in favor of Park City Reservations, Inc.;
3. The Trial Court's failure to award compensatory damages against all Respondents other than Park City Reservations, Inc. in the amount of the portion of the Judgment in favor of Park City Reservations, Inc.;
4. The Trial Court's failure to award punitive damages against all Respondents;
5. The Trial Court's failure to award Appellant its attorneys' fees and costs against Unionamerica, Inc.

RELIEF SOUGHT ON APPEAL

Appellant seeks:

1. Reversal of that portion of the Judgment awarding Park City Reservations, Inc. any amount from Appellant, and judgment in Appellant's favor and against Park City Reservations, Inc., no cause of action; or
2. In the event that portion of the Judgment in favor of PCR is affirmed on this appeal, an award of compensatory damages against all Respondents, or any of them, in the amount of any such award in favor of Park City Reservations, Inc.; and
3. Remand of the case for the purpose of taking evidence to determine the amount of punitive damages to which Appellant is entitled from all Respondents; and
4. Remand of the case for the purpose of taking evidence to determine the amount of attorneys' fees and costs to which Appellant is entitled, including such attorneys fees and costs incurred with respect to prosecuting this appeal; or in lieu of the relief sought in paragraphs 1, 2, 3 and 4 above
5. Remand of the case for a new trial.

STATEMENT OF FACTS

The Transcript of Proceedings contained in the Record on Appeal will be referred to herein by the letter "T." followed by the number of the specific page or pages referred to. Exhibits will be referred to herein as "Ex." followed by the number of the specific exhibit or exhibits referred to. Two witnesses, whose testimony is pertinent to this appeal, Robert Volk and Jack W. Davis, testified at

trial by way of deposition which testimony by stipulation was not transcribed as part of the Transcript of Proceedings. Accordingly, their testimony will be cited as "Volk Dep." and "Davis Dep." respectively, followed by the page or pages referred to.

1. At all times pertinent hereto, Appellant was a Utah corporation in good standing having its principal place of business in Summit County, Utah and was owned by its sole shareholder Harold W. Taylor ("Taylor"), a plaintiff in the Trial Court but not a party to this appeal. Taylor was a real estate broker licensed by the State of Utah to conduct his business in the State of Utah, was the individual Utah licensed real estate broker acting for Appellant, and Appellant was a corporate real estate broker duly licensed by the State of Utah to conduct its business in the State of Utah. ¶¶ 1 and 2, Trial Court Findings; Ex. P-1, P-35, P-36, P-37 and P-38; T. 30, 31.

2. Respondent Unionamerica, Inc. and its wholly owned subsidiary Respondent Ramshire, Inc. were foreign corporations qualified to transact their businesses in the State of Utah, having their principal place of business in the State of Utah in Summit County. William R. Stevenson ("Stevenson") was a vice-president of Ramshire, Inc. and the authorized agent of Unionamerica, Inc. and Ramshire, Inc. ¶¶ 3, 4 and 6, Trial Court Findings. Unionamerica, Inc. and Ramshire, Inc. were one and the same entity for purposes of the subject lawsuit, which entity will be referred to herein as "Unionamerica." T. 33.

3. Respondent Park City Reservations, Inc. ("PCR") was a Utah Corporation having its principal place of business in Summit County, Utah and was owned by its sole shareholder Respondent Harry

Reed ("Reed"). ¶¶ 5 and 7, Trial Court Findings. PCR "doing business as Skyline Realty" was both a defendant and a counterclaimant in the Trial Court.

4. Reed was a real estate broker licensed by the State of Utah to conduct his business in the State of Utah. However, at all times pertinent hereto, Reed was a branch broker for a sole proprietorship owned by Ladd E. Christensen ("Christensen"), an individual, who did business under the assumed name of Skyline Realty and Investment Co. At all times pertinent hereto, Christensen was the broker for such sole proprietorship. Ex. P-45, P-46, P-47, P-48, P-49, P-50; T. 630, 631. Christensen has never been a party to the subject lawsuit, either in his own name or under any assumed name.

5. Christensen's company was a different company than PCR, and at trial Reed could not produce nor did he know of any document that would establish that Reed at any time was ever a broker for PCR, the defendant and Counterclaimant in the subject lawsuit. T. 624, 637.

6. No one, including Reed was ever a broker for PCR and at no time was PCR a corporate real estate broker licensed by the State of Utah to conduct its business in the State of Utah. Ex. P-34; T. 586.

7. In July of 1978, after the subject transaction had been completed, Reed as an individual doing business as Skyline Land Company became his own real estate broker and was no longer a licensed real estate salesman or broker/branch manager under Christensen. Ex. D-43, P-44, P-48, P-49, P-50, P-51; T. 633, 634.

8. When the original complaint was filed and served, Reed was named personally as a defendant doing business as Skyline Realty,

and PCR was not made a party to the action. Prior to the time any of the defendants had responded to the original Complaint, Stephen G. Crockett ("Crockett"), as counsel for PCR, Reed and Cole, telephonically advised counsel for Appellant that the name "Skyline Realty" was a "dba" for the corporation, PCR, rather than Reed, and Crockett then suggested that an Amended Complaint be filed and served prior to any defendants formally responding to the original Complaint. Thereafter, prior to the time any of the defendants formally responded to the original Complaint, and with the oral approval of counsel for all defendants, counsel for Appellant caused the Amended Complaint to be filed and served upon all defendants, including PCR, the new corporate defendant. The naming of PCR as a defendant was done in response to Crockett's direct representations to counsel for Appellant that PCR was the proper party in the case and was in fact the entity doing business under the assumed name "Skyline Realty." September 21, 1979 Affidavit of Kent B Linebaugh in Support of Plaintiff's Motion For Leave to File a Fourth Amended Complaint (the "September 21, 1979 Affidavit"); and ¶¶ 1, 2, 3, 4 and 5 of the September 3, 1980 Affidavit of Kent B Linebaugh in Support of Plaintiff's Motion for Order Amending Findings of Fact, Making Additional Findings of Fact, Amending Conclusions of Law, Adopting Additional Conclusions of Law and Amending Judgment or in the Alternative, Granting a New Trial (the "September 3, 1980 Affidavit").

9. On November 30, 1978, Reed stated under oath: "I entered into an agreement with Harold W. Taylor wherein we were to split the

commission on a 60-40 basis. My company was to receive the 60% . . .
." ¶ 3 of Affidavit of Harry F. Reed in Opposition to Motion for
partial Summary Judgment by Plaintiff.

10. On December 8, 1978, counsel for Appellant took the
deposition of Reed at which time Reed testified that Skyline Realty
was a company he formed with the actual name being Park City Reserva-
tions, Inc., and that the name Skyline was an assumed named for PCR.
In his deposition, Reed further testified that PCR was the only cor-
poration he had ever owned and that it was originally incorporated
under the name of Park City Reservations Inc. Reed further testified
that for purposes of the subject lawsuit, the parties were only to be
concerned with the corporation PCR doing business as Skyline, and that
since November of 1976 he had only been doing business in the corpo-
rate form of Park City Reservations, Inc. doing business as Skyline.
¶ 7 of the September 3, 1980 Affidavit; pp. 7-10 of Reed's deposition.

11. During the first week of January, 1980, during counsel
for Appellant's due diligence investigation of public records as part
of his preparation for the trial herein which began January 14, 1980,
said counsel first discovered PCR had not filed an assumed name certi-
ficate to conduct its business under the assumed name of Skyline
Realty, but that defendant Reed in his individual capacity had filed
an application to conduct his business under the assumed name of "Sky-
line Land Company." It was also at that same time that said counsel
first discovered that PCR had never been licensed as a corporate real
estate broker. Ex. P-34, P-51, P-52; ¶ 10 of the September 3, 1980
Affidavit.

12. By the time counsel for Appellant made the discoveries as recited in the next preceding paragraph, trial of the above captioned matter was scheduled for less than 30 days hence, and said counsel was accordingly prohibited by Rule 10 of the Supplemental Rules Adopted by the Third Judicial District to Rules of Practice in the District Courts of the State of Utah from moving to dismiss the claims of PCR on either the ground that PCR was not a licensed corporate real estate broker or on the ground that PCR had not made application for an assumed name certificate authorizing PCR to do business under the assumed name of Skyline Realty. Accordingly, counsel for Appellant explained to the Trial Court the reasons why such facts had not been presented to the Trial Court in advance of trial. Over Respondents' objections to the contrary, the Trial Court expressly held that counsel for Respondents were not surprised by Appellant's evidence that PCR was not in fact a licensed corporate real estate broker or that no assumed name certificate had been filed for PCR. ¶ 12 of the September 3, 1980 Affidavit; T. 640, 641.

13. At trial, according to Reed and based upon the representations of Reed's counsel, for purposes of the subject lawsuit: Reed's claims were really the claims of the corporation, PCR; PCR and Skyline Realty were one and the same corporation; and the names Skyline Realty, Skyline Realty and Investment Company, Skyline Realty, Inc., Skyline Realty and Park City Reservations, Inc. were all different names for the same corporate entity, PCR, which is the defendant and counterclaimant in the subject lawsuit. T. 428, 429, 607, 623, 624, 627, 628, 629.

14. Neither PCR, Reed and/or Cole ever filed an assumed name certificate with the Secretary of State of the State of Utah to do business under the assumed name of either Skyline Realty or Skyline Realty and Investment Company. Ex. P-52; T. 638.

15. No Respondent presented or proffered any evidence that any assumed name certificate had ever been filed on behalf of PCR to enable PCR to do business under any assumed name. T. 650, 651.

16. The first and only time that Respondents ever claimed that Appellant had waived any rights that Appellant had arising out of PCR's failure to be licensed as a corporate real estate broker and/or PCR's failure to file an assumed name certificate to do business under the assumed name of Skyline Realty, was after the Respondents had rested their cases and at the conclusion of the opening argument of Appellant's counsel. T. 650, 653.

17. At all times pertinent hereto, Respondent Gary Cole ("Cole") was a real estate salesman licensed by the State of Utah to conduct his business in the State of Utah under Christensen as his primary broker and under Reed as his broker/branch manager. Ex. P-46.

18. Prior to and on February 17, 1977, in the Summit County District Court, Taylor had pending against Unionamerica and others a lawsuit pursuant to which Taylor sought to recover damages for breach of contract and certain torts. One of the other defendants in that previous lawsuit was Greater Park City Corporation ("GPCC") whose President was Ray Johnson ("Johnson"). Neither GPCC nor Johnson is a Party to the subject lawsuit. On February 17, 1977, Taylor acting on behalf of Appellant, Stevenson acting on behalf of Unionamerica and

Johnson acting on behalf of GPCC, without the aid of counsel, negotiated, drafted, had typed, and signed an agreement settling the aforesaid lawsuit (the "Settlement Agreement"). Pursuant to the Settlement Agreement Unionamerica and GPCC severally agreed to enter into 5 year exclusive listing agreements with Appellant with respect to any Summit County real properties owned by either of them which real properties they wished to sell. ¶ 9, Trial Court Findings, Appendix C; Ex. P-2, Appendix E.

19. The Settlement Agreement required Appellant to perform the usual real estate broker activities incumbent upon a listing broker transacting its business in Summit County, and Appellant performed all services and discharged all obligations to be performed discharged by it pursuant to the Settlement Agreement. ¶ 2, Memorandum Decision, Appendix B; ¶ 1, Trial Court Conclusions, Appendix C.

20. The Settlement Agreement also required Unionamerica and GPCC to pay to Appellant a 6% commission on all of their respective Summit County real properties sold during the aforesaid 5 year period and at the same time required Appellant to split said 6% commission with a selling broker, with 60% of said commission going to such selling broker and 40% of such commission being retained by Appellant as the listing broker. ¶ 9, Trial Court Findings, Appendix C; Ex. P-2, Appendix E. Said provision in the Settlement Agreement requiring Appellant and any such selling brokers to split the 6% commissions will be referred to herein as the "60-40 Provision."

21. While the real estate brokers in Park City had not entered into any written multiple listing agreement, at all times pertinent hereto the real estate industry in such area, in custom and

practice, had a multiple listing arrangement which according to Reed was referred to as the "Park City Multiple," and which Reed characterized as a "casual multiple listing service." Reed personally participated in organizing the Park City Multiple and, according to Reed, pursuant thereto the participating brokers would exchange notices of listings weekly and split sales commissions with 60% of the commissions going to the selling brokers and 40% of the commissions going to the listing brokers. T. 433, 478-480, 486, 490, 491, 507-508.

22. Although the Park City Multiple was not in writing, Reed personally felt bound by its customs and practices. Reed and other Park City Brokers, including Appellant and Taylor, participated in the Park City Multiple, and both Reed and Appellant had exchanged notices of listings and had split commissions between them in 20-30 transactions over a period of several years. Ex. P-13, P-29; T. 441, 442, 479-491, 516.

23. According to Stevenson, at the time the 60-40 Provision was agreed to, Stevenson also knew how the Park City Multiple worked, including the fact that it was the custom and practice under the Park City Multiple for a selling broker and a listing broker to split the commissions on a 60%-40% basis. T. 283, 291, 292.

24. Also on February 17, 1977, shortly after entering into the Settlement Agreement that same day, and pursuant to the Settlement Agreement, Appellant and Unionamerica entered into a written vacant property exclusive listing (the "Listing") pursuant to which Listing Unionamerica listed for sale with Appellant as the listing broker approximately 10.5 acres of real property (the "Village Land") owned

by Unionamerica and located in Summit County. ¶ 10, Trial Court Findings, Appendix C; Ex. P-3, Appendix F.

25. Even though Unionamerica had entered into the Listing calling for a purchase price of \$1,685,000 for the Village Land, and Appellant began working on a sale at that price, Stevenson was not willing to have Unionamerica sell the Village Land at that price but didn't disclose such fact to Appellant. T. 382, 383.

26. Prior to the sale of the Village Land pursuant to the subject sale, Dempsey Construction Company ("Dempsey") through Appellant indicated a definite interest in purchasing the Village Land. Although Stevenson knew of Dempsey's interest and that Dempsey was soliciting a counteroffer from Unionamerica, Stevenson still did not properly respond to Dempsey's overtures as a result of which he was severely reprimanded by his boss at Unionamerica. Ex. P-3; T. 306, 310.

27. On February 26, 1979, PCR, Reed and Cole moved for partial summary judgment herein. Judge Bryant H. Croft denied said motion, but with respect to the legal effect of the Settlement Agreement and the Listing, Judge Croft held as follows:

The court finds that the Settlement Agreement and the Listing Agreement contemplate that other parties not involved in the lawsuit might find buyers for the listed properties and negotiate a sale therefor, and that neither agreement contains any express or implied provision that Unionamerica or Ramshire would direct any "walk in buyer" to plaintiffs. Such issues are thus now resolved for all future proceedings in this case.

Judge Croft's Order, Appendix A.

28. The Trial Court considered itself bound by Judge Croft's Order. ¶ 3, Memorandum Decision, Appendix B; ¶ 4, Trial Court Conclusions, Appendix C; T. 567.

29. For purposes of this case the parties stipulated that the term "walk-in" is understood to be a potential buyer who comes to the owner unsolicited and not referred to the owner by a licensed real estate agent, and the term will have that meaning when used herein. T. 201.

30. In custom and practice, upon Appellant and Unionamerica entering into both the Settlement Agreement and the Listing, all licensed brokers became eligible to become a selling broker with respect to the Village Land. T. 552, 556-558.

31. Although the Settlement Agreement required Unionamerica to enter into an "exclusive listing agreement" with Appellant, the Settlement Agreement did not specify the details of such listing. Pursuant to the custom and practice in the State of Utah, there are two types of exclusive listing agreements in use, which types are known as either an exclusive right to sell listing, or an exclusive agency listing. Pursuant to the same custom and practice under an exclusive right to sell listing, the owner cannot sell the property himself and avoid paying the agreed upon commission, while under the exclusive agency listing the owner can sell the property himself and avoid paying the agreed upon commission. T. 39, 40, 42, 126, 127, 172, 546-549.

32. Pursuant to the custom and practice in the State of Utah, and according to Reed, the Listing constituted what is known as an exclusive right to sell listing, and was in the standard exclusive

right to sell listing form generally in use in the State of Utah in general, and by Reed in particular, at all times pertinent hereto. Ex. P-3, Appendix E, P-33; T. 45, 439, 448, 548, 549.

33. Pursuant to the custom and practice in the State of Utah, and according to Reed, there is no inconsistency between the 60-40 Provision and an exclusive right to sell listing in the form of the Listing. Ex. P-2, Appendix D, P-3, Appendix E, P-33; T. 436, 553-555.

34. According to Stevenson there was nothing in the Settlement Agreement or the Listing intended to be inconsistent with granting Appellant an exclusive right to sell listing with respect to the Village Land, because:

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