1981

Hal Taylor Associates, a Utah Corporation v.
Unionamerica, Inc., a Corporation, aka Westmor;
Ramshire, Inc., a Corporation; William R.
Stevenson; Park City Reservations, Inc, a
Corporation dba Skyline Realty; Harry F. Reed and
Gary Cole : Brief of Defendants-Respondents Park
City Reservations, Inc., dba Skyline Realty, Harry F.
Reed, and Gary Cole

Utah Supreme Court

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

Additionally, a search of the records at the Secretary of State's office and an analysis of the correspondence that went back and forth between the attorney for PCR and the Secretary of State revealed that very probably PCR filed an assumed name certificate to be allowed to use the name "Skyline Realty". Although the Secretary of State's office is unable to find the application for the d/b/a in

the name of Skyline Realty, there are enough documents in the file to indicate that in fact such a document was filed and was probably lost by the Secretary of State's office. Attachment 3 to the Foxley Affidavit (Appendix B) is a letter dated November 18, 1974, to D. Kendall Perkins from the office of the Secretary of State. It should be noted that Mr. Perkins is the attorney who PCR attempted to call after evidence was closed who would have testified he did file for a d/b/a in the name of Skyline Realty on behalf of PCR. Attachment 3 indicates that Mr. Perkins was told the name Skyline Realty was not available unless Mr. Perkins obtained the consent of one Mr. Williamson to use the name. Clearly, the Secretary of State must have had on file the application by PCR to use the name Skyline Realty in order to cause the November 18th letter to be generated. Mr. Perkins on November 27 sent a letter to Mr. Williamson and obtained his release for the name "Skyline Realty". That letter is attachment 2 to the Foxley Affidavit. The affidavit of Mr. Foxley indicates that in the file of Park City Reservations, Inc., Attachment 2 referring to Skyline Realty was found. Attachment 4 to the Foxley Affidavit, a letter dated December 10, 1974, from Mr. Perkins to the Secretary of State's office indicates that Mr. Perkins forwarded the release by Mr. Williamson so that Mr. Perkins' client could use the name "Skyline Realty". One day after Mr. Perkins sent Attachment 4 to the Secretary of State, PCR's Articles of Incorporation were filed and accepted by the Secretary of State.

At that time it would appear that the assumed name filing for Skyline Realty was lost by the Secretary of State. In any event, it is absolutely clear that PCR's Articles of Incorporation were filed jointly with a document that requested the use of the name Skyline Realty. In addition thereto, it is absolutely clear that PCR, through its attorney, did all that was necessary to obtain the rights to the use of the name. If there was any error it would appear that the Secretary of State's office lost the application for the assumed name after it had been filed. Certainly the Secretary of State had some piece of paper before it when it generated the November 18, 1974 letter (Attachment 3 to Appendix B) relating to the use of the name Skyline Realty (which was found in the Park City Reservations, Inc. file).

All of the information set forth above would have been available at the trial if appellant had complied with Rule 64 of the Utah Rules of Evidence and had given respondents notice of the official documents they sought to introduce. That the surprise was potentially prejudicial is clear from the records of the Secretary of State after a more thorough search was made. PCR did in fact make the requisite filings and is not barred by any statute from maintaining this action.

Even assuming, arguendo, that appellant was correct and in fact PCR did not meet the requisite standards that it must file an assumed name certificate with the Secretary of State's office, it does not

follow that PCR is barred from maintaining this action. The Trial Court ruled that appellant was precluded from raising a defense of lack of capacity by virtue of the fact that appellant waived such defense.

A defense that a party has not filed an assumed name certificate is a "capacity" defense rather than a defense that goes to the merits. Union Trust Co. v. Quigley, 259 P. 28 (Wash. 1927). Capacity defenses under the laws of the State of Utah are governed by Rule 9 of the Utah Rules of Civil Procedure. Rule 9 specifically requires that when a party desires to raise an issue as to the legal existence of any party or the capacity of any party to sue or be sued or the authority of a party to sue or be sued in a representative capacity, he shall do so by specific negative averment, which shall include such supporting particulars as are within the pleaders' knowledge. A defense of lack of capacity clearly requires a pleading so that the opposite party can prepare to meet any claims that are involved. This Court has had occasion to determine whether or not waiver of a capacity argument would occur without such a pleading. In Tooele Meat and Storage Co. v. Fite Candy Co., 168 P. 427 (Utah 1917) this Court held that an objection of the lacking of legal capacity was waived unless raised either by answer or by demurer.

In this instance it would appear that the Trial Court properly applied the doctrine of waiver. (Appendix A, Conclusions of Law

10.) The appellant in this case had knowledge of the purported lack of capacity at least as of January 4, 1980. January 4, 1980 is the date that appellant obtained Exhibit 52 from the office of the Secretary of State. The trial of this case began January 14th. Exhibit 52 was not even introduced nor was a copy given to any of the respondents until January 30. There were at least 26 days during which the appellant could have given notice to the respondents of the capacity defense. However, appellant indicated that it did not give notice because it could not file any motion with the Court within 30 days as of the commencement of trial because of local Rule 10 of the Third District Rules. That argument totally lacks merit. The obvious purpose of the requirement that a capacity defense be pleaded is to give notice to the opposing parties so that they may make whatever preparations are necessary. Although the appellant may have been precluded from filing a motion for summary judgment or some other motion, appellant was not precluded from giving notice to opposing counsel that such a defense would be raised. It would have been a very simple matter for appellant's counsel to lift up the telephone and call counsel for respondents and indicate that appellant intended to plead such a defense. At least respondents then would have had the opportunity of analyzing the facts and determining whether or not the defense had merit. Further, Section 42-2-10 of the Utah Code Annotated (the section dealing with assumed names) provides that a party cannot go forth with a lawsuit "until

the provisions of this Chapter have been complied with." It would have been a very simple matter to notify the respondents so that the respondents could determine whether or not they had complied with the requirements of Title 42 relating to assumed names. As appellant is well aware, this matter could easily have been resolved by respondents in that proper filings could have been made to allow this case to proceed on the merits if such filings were deemed necessary. The only possible explanation for appellant's waiting until the last day of evidence is that appellant hoped to accomplish an ambush and cause this action to not be decided on the merits but upon an argument never previously raised. Such a procedure is wholly improper and the Trial Court correctly disallowed it.

Appellant's only response is the contention that appellant was lulled into its error by virtue of a communication from counsel for PCR indicating that the proper party defendants ought to be PCR. Given the facts set forth on pages 42-46 of this brief, it is still the position of PCR's counsel that the proper party was PCR and not the individuals. However, it doesn't matter. The bottom line is that plaintiff's counsel waited until the last day to introduce evidence he had knowledge of substantially prior to the date of its introduction. That evidence could have been responded to by the defendants. That evidence went to capacity which is a defense that requires advance notice. Further, the defendants could have filed whatever papers had to be filed to allow this case to proceed on the

merits. Given the facts involved, it was not error for the trial Court to determine that appellant had waived any such defense of capacity if such a defense ever existed.

Appellant's argument that defendants could have sought a Stay in order to respondents' counsel to go to the Secretary of State's office is also without merit. The burdens on the Court's calendar are such that the Court was not required nor were the defendants required to cause such a filing to occur before the action could be completed. Had appellant acted properly and advised respondents as to the proposed defense as soon as plaintiffs became aware of it, then all of the necessary actions could have been completed prior to the trial and no delay would have resulted. Given such facts it is entirely proper to find that any defense of lack of capacity was waived by virtue of the failure to bring it forth as soon as appellant had knowledge of the requisite facts.

Appellant also contends that PCR was precluded from maintaining this action because it is not a registered broker with the Department of Business Regulations. Exhibit D. 43 is an affidavit of Steven J. Francis, the director of the real estate division of the Department of Business Regulations for the State of Utah. Mr. Francis indicates that at all times relevant to this action Harry F. Reed was a properly registered real estate broker with the State of Utah and was a broker/branch manager for Skyline Realty. If PCR is correct in its contention that in fact Skyline Realty was an assumed

name of PCR, or that appellant had waived its right to challenge the assumed name, appellant's contention must automatically fail.

The facts with regard to the timing of the presentation of this defense are the same as to the assumed name defense, appellant waited until the trial was substantially completed and then raised the defense for the first time. The Trial Court ruled that if such a defense had once existed, it was waived.

Even if PCR is in error as to the assumed name issue, it does not mean that PCR must lose because it is not a registered broker. One of the issues to be determined is whether or not the corporation itself must hold a brokerage license or whether it is adequate if the corporation employs a licensed broker who is the person involved in the transaction. Section 61-2-18(a) reads as follows:

"(a) No person, partnership, association or corporation shall bring or maintain an action in any court of this state for the recovery of commission, a fee, or compensation for any act done or service rendered the doing or rendering of which is prohibited under the provisions of this act to other than licensed real estate brokers, unless such person was duly licensed hereunder as a real estate broker at the time of the doing of such act or the rendering of such service." (Emphasis added.)

The statute does not require the corporation itself hold a brokerage license. The statute merely prohibits a corporation as well as other entities from maintaining an action for the recovery of a commission if the person who participated in the recovery of the commission is not a licensed real estate broker. In this instance

all of the parties agree that the communications relating to the sale of this property were between two licensed brokers, Harry Reed and Hal Taylor. Harry Reed testified he was employed by Skyline which he understood to be an assumed name of PCR. Skyline Realty was listed with the Department of Business Regulations as a brokerage. It would be a harsh application of this statute if PCR was precluded from the recovery of monies that would otherwise be due and owing because there was no brokerage license issued in the specific name of PCR even though PCR's employee was licensed as a broker.

The legislative purpose of the statute appears to be to protect the public from unscrupulous and/or untrained individuals who might be involved in selling land in order to get commissions. In this case all of the public protections were met. Reed was a duly licensed broker and Skyline was registered with the Department of Business Regulations.

Appellant has not cited to a single case which precludes the recovery of a commission that has facts such as these. Each case cited by appellant wherein the recovery of a commission was precluded involved a transaction wherein the people who participated in the transaction were not licensed brokers. In each and every case cited by appellant wherein the Court struck down the right to obtain a commission, the person who was involved in the transaction was not a licensed broker. There is no case cited by appellant analogous to this one wherein a corporation acting through

its employee (a licensed real estate broker) sought to obtain an earned commission and was refused such commission because the corporation itself was not licensed. In fact, this is another reason why the Trial Court was correct in ruling against the capacity defense raised by appellant. PCR believes that this Court is entitled to take judicial notice of the records on file with the Department of Business Regulations for companies who engage in real estate transactions. PCR has been advised that approximately one-half of the companies do not have brokerage licenses in the name of the corporations but in fact maintain the licenses in the names of persons employed by the corporations who are brokers. Indeed, this Court can take judicial notice that the Department of Business Regulations will only grant a broker's license to a corporation if there is a qualified person within the corporation with whom the license may rest. There is no telling the amount of damage that might be done to real estate transactions that are currently occurring, have occurred, and will occur if this Court adopts the construction of the statute sought by appellant. At least, that type of evidence is something that could have been developed at trial had sufficient notice of the nature of the capacity defense been given prior to the last days of the trial.

This Court has recently decided a case wherein the Court looked to the substance of the transaction and allowed a commission to be earned even though the party seeking the commission was not a

broker. In Global Recreation, Inc. v. Cedar Hills Development Company, 614 P.2d 155 (Utah 1980), this Court decided that Global Recreation was entitled to a commission even though Global was neither a broker nor a licensed real estate salesman. The Court analyzed the facts and determined that the requirements of the statute were met. The Court held that one Richardson, who was a principal of AID, had a broker's license. AID held itself out as a broker based upon Richardson's license. The Court held that the purchasers of the Cedar Hills property were fully protected as contemplated by the statute because both a licensed broker and a licensed salesman were involved in the land sales. The Court further held that the purpose of Section 61-2-1 was not to protect real estate developers who seek relief from their own contractual obligations as does appellant herein. Rather, the Court held that the purpose of the statute was for protection of members of the public who rely on licensed real estate brokers and salesmen to perform tasks that require a high degree of honesty and integrity. Clearly, if AID (which was not a broker but employed a broker just as PCR d/b/a Skyline employed a broker) qualified the transaction under the statute, then Harry Reed and Hal Taylor qualify the transaction currently before the Court.

At the trial PCR's counsel made a motion to amend the pleadings to conform to the evidence and insert Harry Reed as a counterclaimant. (T. 625.) The evidence is clear that two real

estate brokers were involved in the transaction - Harry Reed and Hal Taylor. PCR's counsel moved that Harry Reed be substituted as an additional party on the counterclaim since he was involved with Taylor and was clearly a duly licensed broker. The Court took the motion under advisement and never made a ruling because it eventually ruled appellant had waived the right to make a capacity argument and that counterclaimant, within the meaning of the statute, was a duly licensed real estate broker. If appellant is correct and the Trial Court was wrong in its ruling, then the motion to substitute Harry Reed as a proper party in interest should have been granted. Since all of the facts are exactly identical there was no possible unfair prejudice to plaintiff. The people who caused the sale to go through, Harry Reed and Gary Cole acting on behalf of Park City Reservations, Inc., should not be denied a commission given these facts.

POINT III

THE TRIAL COURT CORRECTLY REFUSED TO AWARD DAMAGES TO TAYLOR FOR BREACH OF A PURPORTED FIDUCIARY DUTY.

1. Appellant apparently relies on the following facts in support of its theory that PCR breached a fiduciary obligation:

A. Reed and Cole did not investigate appellant's contractual relation with Stevenson when first contacted by Stevenson.

(Appellant's Brief page 53.)

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